**IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT**

**Supreme Court No. 2010-CA-01010-SCT**

**Appeal from Cause No. 5190  
In the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi  
Second Judicial District**

---

**ROGER ERIC THORSON, Appellant,**

**v.**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, Appellee.**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

**Jim Davis  
MS Bar No. [REDACTED]  
P.O. Box 1839  
Gulfport, MS 39502  
Telephone: (228) 864-1588**

**Richard F. Klawiter  
Michael Kasdin  
DLA Piper LLP (US)  
203 North LaSalle Street  
Suite 1900  
Chicago, IL 60601**

**Telephone: (312) 368-4000**

**Daniel S. Brennan  
Erin E. Krejci  
Laurie & Brennan, LLP  
Two North Riverside Plaza  
Suite 1750  
Chicago, IL 60606**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY PERMITTING DR. MACVAUGH AND DR. MCMICHAEL TO OFFER EXPERT TESTIMONY ON BEHALF OF THE STATE RELATED TO THE ASSESSMENT OR DIAGNOSIS OF MENTAL RETARDATION IN THE *ATKINS*' CONTEXT.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY NOT RELYING ON DR. SWANSON AND DR. ZIMMERMANN'S EXPERT ASSESSMENT AND DIAGNOSIS OF MENTAL RETARDATION IN AN *ATKINS* CONTEXT.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ACCEPTING DR. MACVAUGH AND DR. MCMICHAEL'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. THORSON DOES NOT EXHIBIT SIGNIFICANTLY SUBAVERAGE INTELLECTUAL FUNCTIONING.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY REJECTING DR. SWANSON AND DR. ZIMMERMANN'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. THORSON EXHIBITS SIGNIFICANTLY SUBAVERAGE INTELLECTUAL FUNCTIONING.
- V. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY IGNORING THE SCIENTIFICALLY ESTABLISHED ERRORS OF MEASUREMENT FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF SIGNIFICANTLY SUBAVERAGE INTELLECTUAL FUNCTIONING.
- VI. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ACCEPTING DR. MACVAUGH AND DR. MCMICHAEL'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. THORSON DOES NOT HAVE CONCURRENT DEFICITS OR IMPAIRMENTS IN AT LEAST TWO AREAS OF ADAPTIVE FUNCTIONING.
- VII. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY REJECTING DR. SWANSON'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. THORSON EXHIBITS CONCURRENT DEFICITS OR IMPAIRMENTS IN AT LEAST TWO AREAS OF ADAPTIVE FUNCTIONING.
- VIII. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY REJECTING DR. SWANSON'S USE OF RETROSPECTIVE TESTING FOR ADAPTIVE FUNCTIONING.
- IX. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY REJECTING DR. SWANSON'S CLINICAL JUDGMENT.
- X. THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS STANDARD TO THE ADAPTIVE FUNCTIONING PRONG OF A MENTAL RETARDATION ASSESSMENT AND IGNORED CLEAR EVIDENCE OF ONSET PRIOR TO AGE 18.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Course of Proceedings

Thorson was indicted on June 3, 1987 and charged with the capital murder of his ex-girlfriend, Gloria McKinney, during the commission of kidnapping on March 4, 1987. Thorson entered a plea of not guilty.

Thorson was tried and convicted as charged in 1988. Thorson appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court on a variety of grounds. The Mississippi Supreme Court found merit to the contention that there was a possible violation of *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) and remanded for a *Batson* hearing to determine if the prosecution violated the *Batson* criteria in exercising its peremptory challenges. *Thorson v. State*, 653 So.2d 876 (Miss. 1995). Upon remand, the trial court found no *Batson* violation. Thorson then appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court, which reversed his conviction and remanded the matter for a new trial, having found that a juror was improperly challenged based solely on her religious affiliation. *Thorson v. State*, 721 So.2d 590 (Miss. 1998).

A new trial began on June 3, 2002 in the Harrison County Circuit Court, Judge Jerry O. Terry, presiding. On June 7, 2002, Thorson was convicted as charged. The following day, on June 8, 2002, Thorson was sentenced to death.

The Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed Thorson's conviction on November 4, 2004 and denied his petition for rehearing on February 3, 2005. *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85 (Miss. 2004). The mandate issued on February 10, 2005.

On April 27, 2005, Thorson filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Supreme Court of the United States. That petition was denied on October 3, 2005. *Thorson v. Mississippi*, 126 S.Ct. 53 (2005).



Thorson timely filed with a petition for post-conviction relief with the Mississippi Supreme Court on January 24, 2006. The Mississippi Supreme Court rejected all of Thorson's grounds for post-conviction relief except for Thorson's claim that he was mentally retarded under *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). The case was remanded to the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Harrison County for an *Atkins* hearing. *Thorson v. State*, 994 So. 2d 707 (Miss. 2007).

The Circuit Court held an evidentiary hearing on January 7 and 8, 2010 on the *Atkins* issue. Thereafter, the Circuit Court requested post-hearing briefs from Thorson and the State. On June 4, 2010, the circuit court, by Judge Roger T. Clark, issued an order finding that Thorson did not meet the standard for mental retardation under *Atkins* and *Chase v. State*, 873 So. 2d 1013 (Miss. 2004). It is that order that is the subject of this appeal.

### **Statement of Facts**

Thorson has previously submitted to this Court extensive factual information on his mental retardation claim in connection with his petition for post-conviction relief and that information is incorporated by reference.<sup>1</sup>

Many of the relevant facts regarding Thorson's mental retardation claim are discussed in detail in the Argument portion of this brief. A summary of certain pertinent information is set forth below.

### **Thorson's Early Years and Indicia of Mental Retardation**

Thorson was adopted by Juanita and Roger R. Thorson when he was two days old. His biological mother, Bertha Brooks, was a 15 year old girl who came from an impoverished and

---

<sup>1</sup> The experts who testified at the *Atkins* hearing reviewed most if not all of these materials as well. (Def. Ex. 2 *generally* and Appendix A to Def. Ex. 2 listing documents reviewed; State's Ex. 3).

troubled home. Thorson's biological father, Kenneth Woodard, did not have much schooling and may have been mentally retarded. (Def. Ex. 2 at 8).

Thorson suffered from a difficult life at home and at school. As a child, Thorson's father, Roger R. Thorson, was rarely home because he worked in the South Pacific. During this time, Thorson lived with his mother and his grandmother, who suffered from bouts of depression and would stay in bed all day. Thorson's mother worked as a registered nurse and spent many hours at the hospital, leaving Thorson at home with his depressed grandmother. (Def. Ex. 2 at 8).<sup>2</sup>

Thorson's family never had much money. Thorson's father was an alcoholic who drank all day long and as a result was mean and physically abusive to Thorson. As an example, on one particularly abusive occasion, while the children were at home, Thorson's father beat his mother, dragged his mother around the house by her hair and threatened her with a gun. (Def. Ex. 2 at 9).

In addition to his broken home life, Thorson suffered from physical and mental health afflictions throughout his childhood. Specifically, Thorson was often sick with a variety of ailments, including pneumonia, red measles, tonsillitis and mononucleosis. He also suffered from high fevers causing his body to become rigid and causing him to stop breathing. In addition, he suffered from convulsions as a result of these fevers. At a very young age, Thorson began taking medication for stress due to problems he suffered at home and school that caused him to have stomach cramps. Thorson continued to require anti-anxiety medication well into adulthood. (Def. Ex. 2 at 14).

School presented difficult challenges for Thorson. In the second and third grade, Thorson was put on medication to counter anxiety experienced with school. The medication did

---

<sup>2</sup> Much of this information on Thorson's childhood was also contained in the affidavits of Juanita Thorson, Mr. Thorson's now-deceased adoptive mother. That affidavit was received by all experts and was submitted to this Court with Thorson's petition for post-conviction relief.

not help and Thorson's teachers reported that he was having trouble advancing grades. He repeated third grade. In sixth grade, Thorson's teacher gave him a "social promotion" to seventh grade, but noted his poor performance. In seventh grade, he failed all of his classes and Thorson's mother learned that he had taken a test that showed he had an IQ of 70. Unfortunately, special education classes for the mildly mentally retarded did not exist at this time and Thorson did not receive any academic attention for his mental disabilities. (Def. Ex. 2 at 12-13). Following the tenth grade, after enduring an endless array of physical, mental, social and familial problems, Thorson dropped out of school in the early 1970's. (Def. Ex. 2. at 15).

After dropping out of school, Thorson attempted to hold a job, but never seemed to keep any one position for very long. Most of his jobs were of short duration and involved very basic, repetitive work such as his work at Morrison's Cafeteria, one of the last positions he had before the crime that led to his conviction. (Def. Ex. 2 at 15).

Throughout his life, Thorson depended on other people for anything and everything. Thorson never had a bank account or maintained a phone or other utility in his name. Thorson did not shop alone nor could Thorson budget money. (Def. Ex. 2 at 27).

#### **Defense Assessment of Mental Retardation**

Thorson was first evaluated for mental retardation in 2005 in connection with his post-conviction proceedings. While Thorson had undergone IQ testing before that time, he was never fully assessed for mental retardation. In 2005, Thorson was evaluated by Dr. Marc Zimmermann. (Tr. at 122). Dr. Zimmermann has extensive education, training and experience in administering and interpreting psychological tests and evaluating persons for mental retardation – an evaluation he has done “[h]undreds if not thousands of times”. (Tr. at 117; Def. Ex. 3). Dr. Zimmermann administered a battery of psychological tests to Thorson including the

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Three, the Rey 15 Item Test, the Test of Memory Malingering, the Short Category Test, the Wisconsin Card Sort, the Screening Test for the Luria-Nebraska Neuropsychological Battery, the full Luria Neuropsychological Battery, the Wide Range Achievement, and the Benton Visual Retention Test and malingering tests. (Tr. at 122-123, 130; Def. Ex. 5).

The details of these tests are discussed in greater detail in the Argument section of this brief but it is important to note the results of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Three test – one of the “gold standards” for measuring IQ. Dr. Zimmermann personally administered this test and concluded that, based on that test, Thorson had a full-scale IQ of 70. (Tr. at 129). Dr. Zimmermann further opined that Thorson was not malingering when he took the IQ test (Tr. at 129-30).

In 2008 and 2009, Dr. Victoria Swanson undertook an extensive assessment to determine whether Thorson is mentally retarded. Dr. Swanson has over 30 years of experience in working with the mentally retarded, including testing and evaluation for the purpose of diagnosing mental retardation. (Tr. at 10-14; Def. Ex. 1). She has assessed “thousands” of people for mental retardation. (Tr. at 11).

Among other things, Dr. Swanson’s assessment included a review of at least three (3) sets of IQ scores on standardized, individually administered tests (Dr. Zimmermann’s testing, the State’s 2008 testing, and Dr. Gasparrini’s testing in 1988), personal interviews of Thorson and ten other people to explore the adaptive functioning levels of Thorson at the relevant time, administering a variety of academic and testing instruments and the use of standardized tests to measure adaptive functioning. (Def. Ex. 2, *generally*; Tr. at 40-41). Based on her extensive investigation and assessment, Dr. Swanson concluded that:

[t]hus, there is evidence that he met the DSM-IV-TR and AAMR, 10<sup>th</sup> Edition diagnostic criteria for a diagnosis of Mental Retardation prior to the age of 18, and there is evidence that he continues to exhibit concurrent, significant intellectual and adaptive deficits at the present time.

In accordance with Mississippi law, it is the opinion of this licensed psychologist that, to a reasonable degree of certainty, (a) Mr. Thorson meets the criteria for a diagnosis of Mental Retardation by both the DSM-IV-TR and the AAMR definitions and (b) appropriate malingering tests were administered that determined Mr. Thorson was not malingering.

(Def. Ex. 2 at 30-31).

### **State's Assessment of Mental Retardation**

In August, 2008, a team of State employees convened at Whitfield State Hospital to review information relating to whether Thorson was mentally retarded. The team was led by Dr. Gilbert Macvaugh III, forensic psychologist, and Dr. Reb McMichael, a forensic psychiatrist, neither of whom have nearly the experience of Dr. Swanson, or Dr. Zimmermann for that matter, in connection with evaluation for mental retardation. Dr. Macvaugh has only recently burnished his credentials on assessing mental retardation as a result of the *Atkins* decision. (Tr. at 171). Dr. McMichael admitted that he neither administers tests nor interprets test results for the purposes of diagnosing patients as mentally retarded. (Tr. at 244). He further admits that he has not done many evaluations for the sole purpose of determining mental retardation (Tr. at 244).

The State's assessment of Mr. Thorson consisted of essentially the following: (1) review of numerous documents (many of which were Mississippi Department of Corrections records generated since Thorson was imprisoned for the crime in question); (2) administration of an IQ test – by neither Dr. Macvaugh nor Dr. McMichael; and (3) a truncated adaptive functioning assessment that included an interview of only Thorson. (State Ex. 3; Tr. at 186-87, 232).

Based on the partial assessment done at Whitfield and flawed application of recognized methodologies, both Dr. Macvaugh and Dr. McMichael erroneously concluded that Thorson was not mentally retarded. (Tr. at 240, 246).

#### **STATEMENT CONCERNING REFERENCES TO THE RECORD**

All references to the transcript of the proceedings in the trial court shall be "Tr. at \_\_\_\_." All references to exhibits offered by Thorson at the hearing below and admitted into evidence shall be "Def. Ex. \_\_\_\_." All references to exhibits offered by the State at the hearing below and admitted into evidence shall be "State Ex. \_\_\_\_." All references to the June 4, 2010 Order from the Harrison County Circuit Court issued by Judge Roger T. Class shall be "Order at \_\_\_\_."

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In this direct appeal, Mr. Thorson presents ten claims for review by this Court. These errors, both individually and taken together, deprived Mr. Thorson of his rights under Mississippi statutory and case law, Article Three, Sections 14, 26 and 28 of the Mississippi Constitution, the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, and other authorities cited herein.

At Mr. Thorson's hearing, he presented the testimony of two supremely qualified experts in the field of mental retardation and in the field of testing for mental retardation. Specifically, each of these experts has over thirty years of experience directly assessing and diagnosing mental retardation. Both of these experts testified that they collectively administered an extensive battery of tests, reviewed the results of previous testing, conducted a thorough investigation of all available biopsychosocial history materials with respect to Mr. Thorson, and relied on their respective clinical judgment and determined to a reasonable degree of medical

certainty that Roger Thorson is mentally retarded as that term is defined by both the American Psychological Association (“APA”) and American Association of Mental Retardation (now known as the American Association on Intellectual Developmental Disabilities (“AAMR” or “AAID”)) within the meaning of *Atkins v Virginia*.

Mr. Thorson’s experts were essentially un rebutted by the State. Neither of the witnesses proffered by the State were qualified to testify with respect to testing for or diagnosing mental retardation. Rather, by their own admission, the State’s experts were unqualified to interpret the only data available. Further, the State witnesses conducted no testing of their own, failed to conduct interviews and have negligible experience upon which to provide meaningful clinical judgment with respect to the diagnosis of mental retardation. Despite the overwhelming weight of the testimony, the trial court nonetheless found that Mr. Thorson was not mentally retarded. This finding constituted an abuse of discretion, and it should be reversed.

### **The Standard of Review**

As indicated in the remainder of this brief, the trial court made both factual and legal errors. Challenges to a trial court’s findings when sitting as finder of fact are reviewed for manifest error, clear error, or to determine whether an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Martin v. Fly Timber Company, Inc.*, 825 So.2d 691, 695 (Miss. 2002). The standard of review for the admission or suppression of evidence, including expert testimony, is an abuse of discretion. *Utz v. Running & Rolling Trucking, Inc.*, 32 So.2d 450 (Miss. 2010). Moreover, this Court has a commitment to heightened scrutiny on appeal where the sentence of death has been imposed. *Ross v. State*, 954 So. 2d 968, 986 (Miss. 2007).

### **The Standard for Determining Mental Retardation**

The United States Supreme Court established the prohibition against executing the mentally retarded in *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). In *Chase v. State*, 873 So.2d 1013 (Miss. 2004), this Court set forth the standard that Mississippi courts must apply when determining whether a defendant is mentally retarded. As this Court explained, a petitioner must be granted an evidentiary hearing to determine whether he is mentally retarded where a petitioner presents:

an affidavit from at least one expert . . . who opines, to a reasonable degree of certainty, that: **(1) the defendant has a combined Intelligence Quotient ("IQ") of 75 or below**, and **(2) in the opinion of the expert, there is a reasonable basis to believe that, upon further testing, the defendant will be found to be mentally retarded, as defined [by the Court].**

*Chase*, 873 So.2d at 1029. (emphasis added) As this Court made clear in *Chase*, the expert opinions offered on the *Atkins* determination must be from someone who is:

qualified as an expert in the field of assessing mental retardation, and further qualified as an expert in the administration and interpretation of tests, and in the evaluation of persons, for purposes of determining mental retardation.

*Id.* (emphasis added). These factors are stated conjunctively meaning that an expert offering opinions on *Atkins* must meet all three criteria. Upon receipt of this affidavit, an evidentiary hearing should be set. *Id.*

At an evidentiary hearing, a petitioner must show by a preponderance of the evidence that he is mentally retarded. *Chase*, 873 So. 2d at 1029. "The burden of showing something by a preponderance of the evidence simply requires the trier of fact to believe that the existence of a fact is more probable than its nonexistence." *Metro. Stevedore Co. v. Rambo*, 521 U.S. 121, 137 (1997) (citations omitted). In this case, this burden only required that Mr. Thorson present evidence that preponderates in his favor, thus producing a rational belief that his claims are true.



*See Hickman v. State*, 592 So. 2d 44, 46 (Miss. 1991). As set forth below, Mr. Thorson has met and indeed exceeded this burden.

The applicable standards for a diagnosis of mental retardation are set forth in the APA's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision ("DSM-IV-TR") and in the AAMR's "Mental Retardation - Definition, Classification and Systems of Support (10th Ed.), both of which are cited in *Atkins* and *Chase*. DSM-IV-TR lists the diagnostic criteria for mental retardation as follows:

- (a) significantly subaverage intellectual functioning (IQ of approximately 70 or below on an individually administered IQ test); and
- (b) concurrent deficits or impairments in present adaptive functioning (. . . effectiveness in meeting the standards expected for his age by his cultural group) in at least two of the following areas: communication, self-care, home living, social /interpersonal skills, use of community resources, self-direction, functional academic skills, work, leisure, health, and safety; and
- (c) onset before the age of 18.

(Def. Ex. 2 at 1).

Likewise, AAMR defines mental retardation as significant limitations both in intellectual functioning and in adaptive behavior as expressed in conceptual, social, and practical adaptive skills with the disability originating before age 18. (Def. Ex. 2 at 2). Both the DSM-IV-TR and AAMR definitions allow for a diagnosis of mental retardation based on an IQ score of 75 or below as long as there is evidence of concurrent, related deficits in adaptive behavior prior to the age of 18. (Def. Ex. 2 at 4).

## ARGUMENT

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