IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ROGER ERIC THORSON,

Appellant

versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ЛМ HOOD

ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARVIN L. WHITE, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Miss. Bar Notering

JASON L. DAVIS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Miss. Bar National Counsel of Record

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL P.O. Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 (601) 359-3680

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly held that Thorson is not mentally retarded after conducting an *Atkins* hearing which was in no way violative of the mandates of this Court as detailed in *Chase* and its progeny. Further, the State produced evidence and testimony through licensed forensic psychologist, Dr. Gilbert Macvaugh and licensed forensic psychiatrist, Dr. Reb McMichael which the trial court deemed more credible. The trial court rendered a decision after conforming in every respect to the dictates of this Court as announced in *Chase, Lynch*, and *Doss*. There was no error.

PRELIMINARY MATTER

This matter was remanded solely for the purpose of conducting a hearing to determine if Thorson was indeed mentally retarded pursuant to *Atkins*. *See Thorson, supra*. As the Court held in *Doss v. State*, 19 So.3d 690 (Miss. 2009):

¶ 5. The standard of review after an evidentiary hearing in post-conviction-relief (PCR) cases is well settled. This Court has said:

"When reviewing a lower court's decision to deny a petition for post conviction relief this Court will not disturb the trial court's factual findings unless they are found to be *clearly erroneous*." Brown v. State, 731 So.2d 595, 598 (Miss.1999) (citing Bank of Mississippi v. Southern Mem'l Park, Inc., 677 So.2d 186, 191 (Miss.1996)) (emphasis added). In making that determination, "[t]his Court must examine the entire record and accept 'that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inferences which may be drawn therefrom and which favor the lower court's findings of fact...,' "Mullins v. Ratcliff, 515 So.2d 683, 685 (Miss.1983)). That includes deference to the circuit judge as the "sole authority for determining credibility of the witnesses." Mullins,

515 So.2d at 1189 (citing *Hall v. State ex rel. Waller*, 247 Miss. 896, 903, 157 So.2d 781, 784 (1963)).

19 So.3d at 694.

In regards to Atkins hearings, the Court in Chase v. State, 873 So.2d 1013 (2004), established

the definition of mental retardation and the procedures to be used in an Atkins hearing

holding:

¶ 69. The *Atkins* majority cited, with approval, two specific, almost identical, definitions of "mental retardation." The first was provided by the American Association on Mental Retardation (AAMR):

Mental retardation refers to substantial limitations in present functioning. It is characterized by significantly subaverage intellectual functioning, existing concurrently with related limitations in two or more of the following applicable adaptive skill areas: communication, self-care, community use, self-direction, health and safety, functional academics, leisure, and work, Mental retardation manifests before age 18.

Atkins, 536 U.S. at 308 n. 3, 122 S.Ct. 2242, citing Mental Retardation: Definition, Classification, and Systems of Support 5 (9th ed.1992). The second was provided by The American Psychiatric Association:

"The essential feature of Mental Retardation is significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning (Criterion A) that is accompanied by significant limitations in adaptive functioning in at least two of the following skill areas: communication, self-care, home living, social/interpersonal skills, use of community resources, self-direction, functional academic skills, work, leisure, health, and safety (Criterion B). The onset must occur before age 18 years (Criterion C). Mental Retardation has many different etiologies and may be seen as a final common pathway of various pathological processes that affect the functioning of the central nervous system." Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 39 (4th ed.2000).

Id.

¶ 70. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, from which the American Psychiatric Association definition is quoted, further states that "mild" mental retardation is typically used to describe persons with an IQ level of 50-55 to approximately 70. Id. at 42-43. The Manual further provides, however, that mental retardation may, under certain conditions, be present in an individual with an IQ of up to 75.¹⁸ Id. at 40. Additionally, According to the *Atkins* majority, "[i]t is estimated that between 1 and 3 percent of the population has an IQ between 70 and 75 or lower, which is typically considered the cutoff IQ score for the intellectual function prong of the mental retardation definition." Id. citing 2 Kaplan & Sadock's Comprehensive Textbook of Psychiatry 2952 (B. Sadock & V. Sadock eds 7th ed.2000) (emphasis added).

 \P 71. These definitions were previously adopted and approved by this Court in *Foster v. State*, 848 So.2d 172 (Miss.2003). This Court further held in *Foster* that

the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-II (MMPI-II) is to be administered since its associated validity scales make the test best suited to detect malingering.... Foster must prove that he meets the applicable standard by a preponderance of the evidence.... This issue will be considered and decided by the circuit court without a jury.

Id. at 175.

¶ 72. These definitions, approved in *Atkins*, and adopted in *Foster*, together with the MMPI-II,¹⁹ provide a clear standard to be used in this State by our trial courts in determining whether, for Eighth Amendment purposes, a criminal defendant is mentally retarded. The trial judge will make such determination, by a preponderance of the evidence, after receiving evidence presented by the defendant and the State.

Procedure to be used.

 \P 73. Having established the definition of mental retardation to be used for purposes of Eighth Amendment protection to mentally retarded defendants, we now turn to the procedure to be used in reaching a determination of mental retardation. ¶74. We hold that no defendant may be adjudged mentally retarded for purposes of the Eighth Amendment, unless such defendant produces, at a minimum, an expert who expresses an opinion, to a reasonable degree of certainty, that:

- 1. The defendant is mentally retarded, as that term is defined by the American Association on Mental Retardation and/or The American Psychiatric Association;
- 2. The defendant has completed the Minnesota Multi phasic Personality Inventory-II (MMPI-II) and/or other similar tests, and the defendant is not malingering.

¶ 75. Such expert must be a licensed psychologist or psychiatrist, qualified as an expert in the field of assessing mental retardation, and further qualified as an expert in the administration and interpretation of tests, and in the evaluation of persons, for purposes of determining mental retardation.

¶76. Upon meeting this initial requirement to go forward, the defendant may present such other opinions and evidence as the trial court may allow pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

¶ 77. Thereafter, the State may offer evidence, and the matter should proceed as other evidentiary hearings on motions.

¶ 78. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court must determine whether the defendant has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant is mentally retarded. The factors to be considered by the trial court are the expert opinions offered by the parties, and other evidence if limitations, or lack thereof, in the adaptive skill areas listed in the definitions of mental retardation approved in *Atkins*, and discussed above. Upon making such determination, the trial court shall place in the record its finding and the factual basis therefor.

^{18.} This point is conceded by the State. However, IQ, alone, does not determine mental retardation. According to the DSM-IV, "it is possible to diagnose Mental Retardation in individuals with IQ's between 70 and 75 who exhibit significant deficits in adaptive behavior." Conversely, Mental Retardation would not be diagnosed in an individual with an IQ lower than 70

if there are no significant deficits or impairments in adaptive functioning.

19. Although this Court has identified the MMPI-II as a test that should be given, we now clarify our position by stating that the expert should use the MMPI-II, and/or any other tests and procedures permitted under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, and deemed necessary to assist the expert and the trial court in forming an opinion as to whether the defendant is malingering.

873 So.2d at 1027-9.

Recently, in Doss v. State, 19 So.3d 690 (Miss. 2009), the Court clarified the

standards for conducting such a hearing holding that:

¶ 45. This Court clarified the nature of testing for and defining mental retardation in *Lynch v. State*:

Accordingly, in Mississippi it is acceptable to utilize the MMPI-II and/or other similar tests. Id. at 1029. This Court did not intend by its holding to declare the MMPI-II or any one test as exclusively sufficient. Having a variety of tests at their disposal, courts are provided with a safeguard from possible manipulation of results and diminished accuracy which might result if courts are limited to one test. The United States Supreme Court mentioned the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scales Test. *See Atkins*, 536 U.S. at 309 n. 5, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335. Other tests, as suggested by mental health experts, include the Structured Interview of Reported Symptoms (SIRS), the Validity Indicator Profile (VIP), and the Test of Memory Malingering (TOMM). See Douglass Mossman, [*Atkins v. Virginia*]: A Psychiatric Can of Worms, 33 N.M.L.Rev. 255, 277-78 (Spring 2003).

The Court's interpretation in this case as to the proper test to be administered with regard to an *Atkins* hearing supercedes any contrary decisions. This Court neither endorses the MMPI-II as the best test nor declares that it is a required test, and decisions that state otherwise are expressly overruled. *See, e.g. Scott v. State*, 938 So.2d 1233, 1238 (Miss.2006) (holding that despite the doctor's use of a battery of other tests, administration of the MMPI-II is required prior to an adjudication of a claim of mental retardation); *Goodin v. State*, 856 So.2d 267, 277 (Miss.2003) (declaring that the MMPI-II is to be administered for a determination of mental retardation since it is the best test to detect malingering). Our trial courts are free to use any of the above listed and approved tests or other approved tests not listed to determine mental retardation and/or malingering by a defendant.

Lynch, 951 So.2d at 556-57 (emphasis in original).

The Appellee submits that the trial court conducted the hearing in a manner commensurate with the dictates of this Court in *Chase, Lynch* and as outlined in *Doss* and that the trial court's holding was not clearly erroneous. Thorson is therefore entitled to no relief on his assignments error.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE ARGUMENT REGARDING THE QUALIFICATIONS AND TESTIMONY OF DR. MACVAUGH AND DR. MCMICHAEL IS BARRED FROM CONSIDERATION AND IS ALTERNATIVELY DEVOID OF MERIT

The Appellant's first claim is that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the testimony of Dr. Macvaugh and Dr. McMichael. App. at 12-4. This claim is barred from consideration as the Appellant did not object to the qualifications of Dr. Macvaugh and Dr. McMichael. Failure to do so constitutes waiver of that claim resulting in a bar to their consideration with this Court pursuant to *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968 (Miss. 2007), in which the Court, citing to *Scott v. State*, 878 So.2d 933, 953 (Miss.2004), held that:

"Heightened appellate scrutiny in death penalty cases does not require abandonment of our contemporaneous objection rule which applies with equal force to death cases. For many years this Court has held that trial errors cannot be raised in this Court for the first time on appeal." Williams v. State, 684 So.2d 1179, 1203 (Miss.1996). "If no contemporaneous objection is made, the error, if any, is waived. This rule's applicability is not diminished in a capital case." Cole v. State, 525 So.2d 365, 368 (Miss.1988) (citations omitted).

See also Rubenstein, 941 So.2d at 755 ("The contemporaneous objection rule applies in death penalty cases. Therefore, any issue to which Rubenstein failed to object is procedurally barred").

954 So.2d at 1027-8. [emphasis added]

Alternatively, and without waiving the applicable procedural bar, the Appellant's arguments are entirely devoid of merit.

A. Dr. Gilbert S. Macvaugh

Dr. Macvaugh was tendered and accepted as an expert in forensic psychology with a particular emphasis in *Atkins* determinations. Tr. 172. The Appellant failed to object to these qualifications and has therefore waived the right to do so at this juncture. *Id.* Alternatively, and without waiving the procedural bar, the Appellee submits that the Appellant's argument that Dr. Macvaugh was not qualified to assess Thorson for mental retardation is without merit.

The Appellant makes much of the fact that Dr. Macvaugh is a "forensic psychologist" claiming he is not qualified to assess mental retardation. The Appellant misapprehends what a forensic psychologist actually is, much as his expert, Dr. Swanson, did by her testimony, in which she clearly stated that, "I am not a forensic psychologist."² Tr. 15. A forensic psychologist "specializes in the area of forensic psychology, which means assisting the legal system in answering a question regarding mental health issues. . . ." Tr. 170.

²Dr. Swanson also admitted that she has no formal training in working with the prison population in "determining mental retardation or specialized work in that setting." Tr. 15.

Dr. Macvaugh has been recognized by this Court as an expert in assessing mental retardation, most recently in Doss, in which the Court affirmed the trial court's determination that Doss was not mentally retarded. The best argument that the Appellant can muster is that his expert, Dr. Swanson, has allegedly assessed "thousands" of individuals for mental retardation as opposed to a smaller number by Dr. Macvaugh. This argument is specious and is without legal merit. Dr. Macvaugh is uniquely qualified to assess individuals for mental retardation, specifically in the context of Atkins. This is borne out by Dr. Macvaugh's research and involvement in numerous cases concerning the issue of mental retardation and death row inmates. See Doss, supra; Wiley v. Epps, 668 F.Supp.2d 848 (N.D. Miss., 2009); Hughes v. Epps, 694 F.Supp.2d 533 (N.D.Miss., 2010). Not only is Dr. Macvaugh more than qualified to assess mental retardation in a clinical context, he is uniquely qualified to assess mental retardation in individuals on death row. Furthermore, Dr. Macvaugh is an experienced forensic and clinical psychologist and therefore, by definition, more qualified to offer testimony on matters such as an Atkins determination than a psychologist unfamiliar with Atkins hearings, as was the case with Dr. Swanson, who admitted that she was not even aware of the standards and/or procedures involved in an Aktins determination. Dr. Macvaugh was properly qualified and tendered as an expert in forensic psychology with a particular emphasis on Atkins determinations, without objection. Tr. 172. For that reason, the claim is now barred from consideration. Additionally, Dr. Macvaugh is a forensic and clinical psychologist with particularized experience in assessing individuals on death row for mental retardation, whose

testimony has been previously affirmed by this Court. *See Doss, supra*. This claim, while barred, is alternatively devoid of merit. Thorson is entitled to no relief on this assignment of error.

B. Dr. Reb McMichael

Dr. Reb McMichael, Service Chief of the Forensic Services Unit at the Mississippi State Hospital, was tendered as an expert in forensic psychiatry without objection. Tr. 244. Accordingly, this claim is now barred from consideration. See Ross, supra. Alternatively, the claim that Dr. McMichael was unqualified is also without merit. Dr. McMichael has been tendered as an expert in psychiatry in and his testimony has been affirmed in many cases, most recently in Doss. Much as Thorson did in his first claim regarding Dr. Macvaugh, the Appellant assails the qualifications of Dr. McMichael claiming he is not a licensed psychiatrist. See App. at 14. The State Hospital, however, is not in the habit of putting unlicensed pscyhiatrists in charge of their forensic unit. Dr. McMichael is indeed a licensed psychiatrist. Tr. 242-3. Moreover, Dr. McMichael is a forensic psychiatrist making him more qualified to give testimony in an Atkins hearing. Id. This claim is barred as the Appellant failed to object to the qualifications of Dr. McMichael at any point during the hearing on this issue. See Ross, supra. Alternatively, the claim is without merit. Thorson is entitled to no relief on this assignment of error.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S HOLDING THAT THORSON IS NOT MENTALLY RETARDED PURSUANT TO ATKINS WAS NOT

19

CLEARLY ERRONEOUS³

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